IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

**NO. 23-0917
WOODBURY COUNTY NO. LACV200008**

**LORI AND RONALD RANDOLPH,
Plaintiff-Appellants,**

v.

**AIDAN, LLC,
Defendant, Third-Party Plaintiff, and Appellee,**

v.

**CITY OF SIOUX CITY, IOWA,
Third-Party Defendant-Appellant.**

**APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
IN AND FOR WOODBURY COUNTY
THE HONORABLE ROGER L. SAILER, JUDGE**

**APPELLANTS' JOINT FINAL BRIEF AND
REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

**STEVEN R. POSTOLKA
NICOLE M. DUBOIS
405 6TH STREET, PO BOX 447
SIOUX CITY, IA 51102**

**ATTORNEYS FOR
DEFENDANT-APPELLANT
CITY OF SIOUX CITY**

**EDWARD J. KEANE
600 4TH ST., STE. 702
SIOUX CITY, IA 51101**

**ATTORNEY FOR
PLAINTIFF-APPELLANTS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 8, 2021, Plaintiff-Appellants Lori and Ronald Randolph (hereinafter the “Randolphins”), husband and wife, filed a Petition in Iowa District Court against Defendant-Appellee Aidan, LLC (hereinafter “Aidan”). Lori alleged that she suffered injuries in a fall down a flight of stairs at a rental property owned by Aidan, and Ronald alleged loss of spousal consortium.

Aidan, in turn, filed a Third-Party Petition against the City of Sioux City (hereinafter the “City”), alleging that the defects in the stairs should have been caught during an inspection by the City, and that the City negligently hired, retained, or supervised the housing inspector who observed their property, Doug Gough.

The City moved to dismiss Aidan’s Third-Party Petition. The Randolphins joined in the City’s Motion. On May 31, 2023, the District Court overruled the City’s Motion. The Randolphins filed a timely Application for Interlocutory Review, in which the City joined. This Court granted the Application on July 27, 2023.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On a motion to dismiss, the Court assumes that the facts contained in the Petition are true, and determines whether they state an actionable claim

for relief. *See, e.g., U.S. Bank v. Barbour*, 770 N.W.2d 350, 353 (Iowa 2009). Accordingly, here Aidan’s Third-Party Petition sets forth the following facts.

Plaintiffs Lori and Ronald Randolph were tenants in a rental property owned by Defendant Aidan, LLC (hereinafter “Aidan”). R. at 4, ¶ 3. Lori alleges that on or about February 14, 2020, she fell on a flight of stairs at said property, sustaining injuries. R. at 5, ¶¶ 7-8.

Ms. Randolph alleges that she fell because the stairs were uneven or were otherwise unsafe, and were out of compliance with the Sioux City Municipal Code. R. at 4, ¶¶ 5-6; *id.* at 5, ¶ 8. The Randolphs filed suit against Aidan on November 8, 2021, alleging both personal injuries to Ms. Randolph and loss of consortium to Mr. Randolph. R. at 5-6.

On February 3, 2023, Aidan filed its Third-Party Petition against the City of Sioux City (hereinafter the “City”). Aidan alleges that the City is liable for the Randolphs’ damages on theories of “negligent hiring/retention/supervision” and contribution. R. at 9-10. Specifically, Aidan alleges that the City’s inspector, Doug Gough (hereinafter “Gough”), failed to find any issues with the stairs during the course of his inspections, and that he was unqualified for his job. *Id.* at 9, ¶¶ 5, 7-8.

ARGUMENT

The issue before the Court is a purely legal question, to wit, whether a person can bring a claim against a City for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision of a housing inspector notwithstanding (I) the immunity provision of Iowa Code section 670.4(1)(j) and (II) the public duty doctrine.

The Iowa Code immunizes municipalities from claims based on missing a defect in the course of a building inspection. The legislature, by enacting section 670.4(1)(j), intended to allow cities to maintain inspection services in the interest of public health and welfare, without turning the cities into liability insurers for every building they inspect.

Aidan, presumably knowing that the City is immune on such a claim, seeks an end run around the statute. They base their claims not on the allegation that Inspector Gough missed the defective stairs in the course of his inspection, but rather, that the City negligently hired, retained, or supervised Mr. Gough.

However, such a claim is contrary to the plain wording of section 670.4(1)(j) and finds no support in the case law. The purpose of this immunity is to allow cities to enforce building codes, not to turn them into general liability insurers.

Additionally, and in the alternative, Aidan’s claim that the City should have hired a different inspector or supervised him better is essentially a claim that the City did not enforce its laws well enough. This is precisely the kind of claim that fails under the public duty doctrine.

For these reasons, the City respectfully asks this Court to reverse the decision of the District Court; to hold that Aidan’s claims for negligent hiring, retention, and supervision fail under either section 670.4(1)(j) or the public duty doctrine; and to order that Aidan’s Third-Party Petition be dismissed.

I. THE CITY IS IMMUNE ON AIDAN’S PETITION PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE SECTION 670.4(1)(j).

1. PRESERVATION OF ISSUE

The City raised this issue to the Court in its Pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss, filed February 24, 2023. The Randolphs joined in the City’s Motion on March 6. The District Court overruled the Motion via written Ruling on May 31. On June 7, the Randolphs filed a timely Application for an Interlocutory Appeal from the District Court’s Ruling, and the City joined the Application on June 9. This Court sustained the parties’ Application. Accordingly, this issue is properly before this Court.

2. SCOPE OF REVIEW

This Court reviews an order overruling a motion to dismiss for correction of errors at law. *Kingsway Cathedral v. Iowa Dept. of Transp.*, 711

N.W.2d 6, 7 (Iowa 2006). Motions to dismiss are appropriate when the facts contained in the Petition do not state an actionable claim for relief. *See, e.g., U.S. Bank v. Barbour*, 770 N.W.2d 350, 353 (Iowa 2009). And where the facts pled in the petition demonstrate that the defendant is immune, it is appropriate to dispose of the petition on a motion to dismiss. *See generally Venckus v. City of Iowa City*, 930 N.W.2d 792 (Iowa 2019).

3. ARGUMENT

Section 670.4(1)(j) prevents an individual from suing a city for missing a defect during the course of an inspection. Aidan did not appear to dispute this premise at the District Court level, and this is presumably why Aidan did not assert a general negligence claim in their Third-Party Petition.

Aidan does argue, however, that an individual should nevertheless be able to sue a city for negligently *hiring, retaining, or supervising* the inspector who missed the defect. *See R.* at 9-10. The City respectfully disagrees, as such an interpretation is inconsistent with (1) the plain meaning of section 670.4(1)(j); (2) the legislative history surrounding its enactment; (3) the overarching immunity system of chapter 670 more broadly; and (4) the existing case law.

For these reasons, the City respectfully asks this Court to overrule the decision of the District Court; to hold that 670.4(1)(j) bars a claim against a

city for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision of a housing inspector; and accordingly to dismiss Aidan’s Third-Party Petition.

A. Aidan’s interpretation is inconsistent with the clear wording of section 670.4(1)(j).

Aidan asserts here that even though the City clearly enjoys immunity from liability for missing a defect in the course of an inspection, it should nevertheless be allowed to bring a claim against the City for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision. This argument is at odds with the plain meaning of 670.4(1)(j).

This Court has several principles of statutory interpretation which it considers “well-settled.” *Du Trac v. Comm. Credit Union v. Hefel*, 893 N.W.2d 282, 294 (Iowa 2017). “The purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine the legislature’s intent.” *Id.* (quoting *State v. Howse*, 875 N.W.2d 684, 691 (Iowa 2016)). The Court “give[s] words their ordinary and common meaning by considering the context within which they are used, absent a statutory definition or an established meaning in the law.” *Id.* (quoting *Howse*, 875 N.W.2d at 691).

Here, section 670.4(1)(j) provides, in full, as follows:

The liability imposed [on municipalities for their torts] shall have no application to any claim enumerated in this section. As to any of the following claims, a municipality shall be liable only to the extent liability may be imposed by the express statute dealing with such claims

and, in the absence of such express statute, the municipality shall be immune from liability:

...

j. Any claim based upon an act or omission of an officer or employee of the municipality, whether by issuance of permit, inspection, investigation, or otherwise, and whether the statute, ordinance, or regulation is valid, *if the damage was caused by a third party, event, or property* not under the supervision or control of the municipality, unless the act or omission of the officer or employee constitutes actual malice or a criminal offense.

Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(j) (2023) (emphasis added).

Assuming that Mr. Gough did miss a defect in the course of his inspection, this statute plainly immunizes the City from any claim based on such a mistake, since:

1. The City is a municipality;
2. Mr. Gough was an employee of the City;
3. His act of missing the defect would have been an “omission” within the meaning of the statute (and Aidan has not pled that Gough committed actual malice nor a criminal offense); and
4. The Randolphs’ damages were caused by property not under the City’s supervision and control, to wit, the stairs of Aidan’s apartment complex.¹

¹ See *Williams v. Bayers*, 452 N.W.2d 624, 626 (Iowa App. 1990) (cities do not have “supervision or control” over privately-owned buildings within the meaning of then-section 670.4(10), precursor to the current section 670.4(1)(j)); see also *Madden v. City of Eldridge*, 661 N.W.2d 134, 135, 141

The City expects Aidan will respond by arguing that their claim is not truly based on the negligence of *Gough*, but rather, is based on the negligence of the *City* in its hiring, retention, and/or supervision of Mr. Gough. However, this argument would again be contrary to the plain language of 670.4(1)(j): the important factor for immunity under that subsection is not that the damages arose out of an inspection, but rather, again, that the damages were caused by a *third party*. Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(j). Under that section, the City is immune on “any claim,” whether arising out of “issuance of permit, inspection, investigation, or otherwise,” so long as “the damage was caused by a third party, event, or property not under the supervision or control of the municipality.” *Id.*

Here, the law clearly establishes that the stairs of a private apartment building are under the control of the third-party owner, *not* the City. *See Williams*, 452 N.W.2d at 626; *Madden*, 661 N.W.2d at 135, 141. Thus, since the stairs were under the control of Aidan as a matter of law, the City is immune under even the plain language of section 670.4(1)(j). Accordingly,

(Iowa 2003) (city not liable for death caused by collapsed apartment ceiling even though it had paid to construct the building at issue: city did not own the building at the time of loss, and city was not obligated to supervise contractor who built the building).

the City respectfully asks this Court to reverse the decision of the District Court, and to order that Aidan’s Third-Party Petition be dismissed.²

B. Aidan’s argument is inconsistent with the overarching language of 670.4(1), providing that only statutory claims (and not common law claims) survive the 670.4 immunity.

Another one of the “well-settled principles of statutory interpretation” is that the Court “consider[s] the legislative history of a statute, *including prior enactments*, when ascertaining legislative intent.” *Du Trac*, 893 N.W.2d at 294 (quoting *Howse*, 875 N.W.2d at 691) (emphasis added).

The default rule historically under the common law was that municipalities were immune from suit, whether via sovereign immunity or otherwise. *See, e.g.*, W. E. Shipley, Comment Note, *Municipal immunity from liability for torts*, 60 A.L.R.2d 1198 § 2 (1958).

Iowa abrogated that common law rule by enacting what would ultimately become section 670.2 (providing that municipalities are generally liable for their torts absent a statutory exemption). *See Symmonds v. Chicago*,

² Aidan’s Third-Party Petition is in two Counts, to wit, (I) negligent hiring/retention/supervision and (II) contribution. *See R.* at 9-10. The City submits that both claims are based on the same theory of negligent hiring/retention/supervision. *See Id.* at 10, ¶¶ 12-14. Accordingly, if this Court determines that the City is immune on Aidan’s Count I, then the City would be immune on Aidan’s Count II as well, and the Third-Party Petition should be denied in its entirety.

M., St. P. & P.R. Co., 242 N.W.2d 262, 264 (Iowa 1976), *abrogated on other grounds by Estate of McFarlin v. State.*, 881 N.W.2d 51 (Iowa 2016).

Yet the legislature preserved immunity for the kinds of claims described in section 670.4(1). A municipality is not liable for any claim which is included therein and which arises out of the common law:

As to any of the following claims, a municipality shall be liable only to the extent liability may be imposed *by the express statute dealing with such claims* and, in the absence of such express statute, the municipality shall be immune from liability.

Iowa Code § 670.4(1) (emphasis added).

Here, Aidan’s claim does not arise out of any such express statute. Rather, it arises out of the common law. This would be a different case if, e.g., Aidan were asserting a worker’s compensation claim arising out of chapter 85. The fact that the legislature restricted municipal liability only to such statutory claims, and the fact that no statute creates a private right of action for negligent inspections, demonstrates the legislature’s intent to immunize municipalities in these situations.

C. Aidan’s argument is inconsistent with the overall immunity system the legislature created in chapter 670.

A third “well-settled principle[] of statutory interpretation” is that the Court must consider the statute as a whole:

When we interpret a statute, we assess the statute in its entirety, not just isolated words or phrases. We may not extend, enlarge, or otherwise change the meaning of a statute under the guise of construction.

Du Trac, 893 N.W.2d at 294 (quoting *Howse*, 875 N.W.2d at 691). Indeed, the Court should even consider other, related statutes, discerning the meaning of a statute from its overall context in the Iowa Code:

In determining the ordinary and fair meaning of the statutory phrase at issue, we take into consideration the language's relationship to other provisions of the same statute and other provisions of related statutes.

Sand v. An Unnamed Local Government Risk Pool, 988 N.W.2d 705, 708 (Iowa 2023) (quoting *Landowners v. S. Cent. Reg'l Airport Agency*, 977 N.W.2d 486, 495 (Iowa 2022)).

Here, Aidan's argument that 670.4 would treat general negligence differently than negligent hiring, retention, or supervision, is particularly illogical in light of the remainder of chapter 670. Section 670.8, for example, provides that a city

shall defend its officers and employees, whether elected or appointed and shall save harmless and indemnify the officers and employees against any tort claim or demand, whether groundless or otherwise, arising out of an alleged act or omission occurring within the scope of their employment or duties.

Id. § 670.8. Moreover, section 670.12 provides that

[a]ll officers and employees of municipalities are *not* personally liable for claims which are exempted under section 670.4, except claims for punitive damages, and actions permitted under section 85.20.

Id. § 670.12 (emphasis added).

Thus, regardless of whether a tort is committed by an employee or by the municipality itself, liability will typically run solely to the municipality all the same. This is the system which the legislature designed – and for good reason, since a plaintiff is much more likely to receive a recovery from a municipality than from an individual employee. But to say that the City is liable on a claim for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision where it is not liable for general negligence is completely contrary to the overall spirit and intent of chapter 670.

D. Aidan’s argument finds no support in the case law.

Finally, there is no support in the case law for the argument that a tort for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision survives the immunity of section 670.4(1)(j). Aidan cited three cases to the District Court involving claims for negligent hiring/retention/supervision against municipalities, but *none* of these cases involved a situation where the municipality enjoyed any kind of statutory immunity at all. To the contrary, all three cases involved an underlying claim of sexual harassment or abuse, for which a city would obviously not be immune.

The case of *Kiesau v. Bantz* involved a claim of sexual harassment against a county official, specifically, that a sheriff’s deputy circulated an

altered photo of a fellow deputy, depicting her with exposed breasts. 686 N.W.2d 164, 169 (Iowa 2004), *overruled on other grounds by Alcala v. Marriott Inter., Inc.*, 880 N.W.2d 699, 708 n.3 (Iowa 2016). The Court allowed the plaintiff to proceed on a claim against the county for negligent hiring, supervision, or retention of the offending deputy. *Id.* at 173. However, the problem with Aidan’s citation to *Bantz* is that municipalities are obviously not immune for acts of sexual harassment committed by their employees. The City respectfully submits that chapter 670 mandates a different result here, where the municipality *is* immune on a claim for missing something in the course of a building inspection. And it is completely sensible why the legislature would want cities to be immune in that context but not in the context of sexual harassment.

Aidan also cited to *A. Doe v. Cedar Rapids Comm. Sch. Dist.*, which again involved claims of sexual misconduct. Specifically, three girls alleged that a school was liable for a teacher’s sexual misconduct based on theories of negligent hiring, retention, and supervision. 652 N.W.2d 439, 440 (Iowa 2002). The school asserted discretionary-function immunity pursuant to now-section 670.4(1)(c). *Id.* at 442. The Court forcefully rejected the school’s assertion of discretionary-function immunity:

As a matter of public policy, surely, our legislature, in enacting [then-] Iowa Code section 670.4(3), did not intend to allow a school district to

hire, retain, or leave unsupervised a teacher with known propensities for child abuse with total impunity.

Id. at 446. The current case stands in stark contrast to *A. Doe*. For one, the City is not here asserting discretionary-function immunity pursuant to section 670.4(1)(c), but rather, immunity for the acts of third parties and property pursuant to section 670.4(1)(j). More importantly, the legislature has expressly seen fit to grant immunity for missing something in the course of a building inspection, whereas it has not immunized (and presumably would not immunize) cities from claims of sexual abuse.

Finally, Aidan relied on *Godar v. Edwards*, which did not even involve an immunity defense. In *Godar*, the plaintiff claimed that an employee of a school district sexually abused him for several years when he was a student. 588 N.W.2d 701, 703-04 (Iowa 1999). Aidan cited *Godar* for the proposition that “a municipal employer may not be vicariously liable for certain acts or omissions of its employees but may nevertheless be directly liable for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision,” R. at 31. But the *Godar* Court found that the plaintiff could *not* hold the school liable on theories of negligent hiring, retention, or supervision in that case. *Godar*, 588 N.W.2d at 709-10. Moreover, the Court did not reach this holding on immunity grounds, nor even discuss immunity; rather, the Court simply found that the facts produced at trial failed to create a case against the school as a matter of law, *id.*

Thus, none of the prevailing case law supports Aidan’s interpretation of 670.4(1)(j). To the contrary, the General Assembly’s intent in enacting that statute was clear: to insulate cities from liability for damages caused by third parties and property. This interpretation comes into clear focus when we look at the prevailing case law under the old chapter 613A, specifically, the 1979 case of *Wilson v. Nepstad*. There, the Wilsons sued the City of Des Moines for negligently inspecting their apartment building and granting an inspection certificate. 282 N.W.2d 664, 666 (Iowa 1979). At that time, this Court took the approach that the law *should* hold municipalities liable in negligence, finding that cities needed this kind of liability to “motivate” them:

Municipalities are not going to be motivated toward meaningful inspections while insulated from their employees’ negligence with respect to these statutory duties.

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