IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

No. 23-0917

LORI AND RONALD RANDOLPH
Plaintiff-Appellants

vs.

AIDAN, LLC
Defendant/Third-Party Plaintiff-Appellees

vs.

CITY OF SIOUX CITY, IOWA,
Third-Party Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE WOODBURY COUNTY DISTRICT COURT CASE
NO. LACV200008

THE HONORABLE ROGER L. SAILER
PRESIDING JUDGE

DEFENDANT/THIRD-PARTY PLAINTIFF-APPELLEES' FINAL BRIEF

ROSALYND J. KOOB, AT0004380
JOEL D. VOS, AT0008263
ZACK A. MARTIN, AT0014476
1128 Historic 4th Street
P.O. Box 3086
Sioux City, Iowa 51102
Phone: (712) 255-8838
Fax: (712) 258-6714
Roz.Koob@heidmanlaw.com
Joel.Vos@heidmanlaw.com
Zack.Martin@heidmanlaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT/THIRD-

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

C. Aidan’s negligent hiring/retention/supervision claim against the City does not require an actionable claim against the City’s employee.

Prior to the enactment of the IMTCA, municipalities in the State of Iowa enjoyed absolute sovereign immunity. *See Godfrey v. State*, 847 N.W.2d 578, 582–83 (Iowa 2014) (citing Iowa Code Chapter 670). The IMTCA provides that, subject to its exceptions, “every municipality is subject to liability for its torts and those of its officers and employees, acting within the scope of their employment or duties, whether arising out of a governmental or proprietary function.” Iowa Code § 670.2(1). Among those claims exempted are claims “based upon the exercise or performance or the failure to exercise or perform a discretionary function.” Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(c).

Municipalities are not immune from negligent hiring, retention, or supervision claims under the IMTCA’s discretionary function exemption. *Kiesau v. Bantz*, 686 N.W.2d 164, 171–73 (Iowa 2004), *overruled on other grounds by Alcala v. Marriott Int’l, Inc.*, 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016); *A. Doe v. Cedar Rapids Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 652 N.W.2d 439, 444–47 (Iowa 2002). *A. Doe* rejected Cedar Rapids’ argument that the immunity applied to a negligent hiring, retention, or supervision claim asserted against it. *A. Doe*, 652 N.W.2d at 447. “Applying traditional tort principles, the courts are perfectly capable of adjudicating the reasonableness of hiring, retaining, and supervising a particular [municipal employee].” *Id.*

To succeed on a negligent hiring, retention, or supervision claim, a plaintiff must show that:

- (1) the employer knew, or in the exercise of ordinary care should have known, of its employee's unfitness at the time of hiring;
- (2) through the negligent hiring of the employee, the employee's incompetence, unfitness, or dangerous characteristics proximately caused the resulting injuries; and
- (3) there is some employment or agency relationship between the tortfeasor and the defendant employer.

Godar v. Edwards, 588 N.W.2d 701, 708–09 (Iowa 1999). An employer's direct liability for negligence related to hiring is "separate and distinct from liability under the doctrine of respondeat superior." *Id.* at 707 n.3. Any negligent hiring, retention, or supervision claim must also include, as an element, "an underlying tort or wrongful act committed by the employee." *Schoff v. Combined Ins. Co. of Am.*, 604 N.W.2d 43, 53 (Iowa 1999).

In response to Aidan's argument that negligent hiring, retention, and/or supervision is a separate and independent basis for liability against the City, not immunized by the IMTCA, the City argued that Aidan's claim is instead "based upon . . . issuance of a permit, inspection, investigation, or otherwise," rendering the exemption at Iowa Code section 670.4(1)(j) applicable. *See* Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(j).

Denying the City’s pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss, the district court determined that presuming Gough’s underlying conduct was immune:

The Court finds no authority for the proposition that immunity for a predicate tortious act by an employee forecloses an action for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision, and the Court finds that it does not.

App. 82.

In its Brief, the City again argues that the immunity under subsection (1)(j) precludes Aidan’s claim, now claiming this result is supported by the language that the inspection immunity applies whenever “*the damage was caused by a third party, event, or property* not under the supervision or control of the municipality.” City’s Br. at 15 (emphasis in the original) (quoting Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(j)). However, the cases applying subsection (1)(j) and relied on by the City involve only vicarious liability claims related to allegedly negligent inspection or failure to inspect. *See Madden*, 661 N.W.2d at 135–36; *Williams v. Bayers*, 452 N.W.2d 624, 625 (Iowa Ct. App. 1990). Any reliance on the immunity of section 670.4(1)(j) still fails to address the issue noted by the district court—the City points to no authority supporting its argument that “if a Defendant is immune from liability for a tortious act, then no tortious or wrongful act occurred at all” for purposes of the underlying wrongful conduct required to prove a negligent hiring, retention, or supervision claim. *See App. 81.*

The Amicus Brief relies upon *Cubit v. Mahaska Cnty.*, 677 N.W.2d 777 (Iowa 2004). That decision held that a claim of negligent supervision against the county arose out of supervisory acts and omissions during an emergency, and thus, the emergency response immunity applied. *Id.* at 784–85. However, a key distinction between the emergency response immunity and the immunity under subsection (1)(j) is that while (1)(j) immunizes claims “based upon . . . inspection,” the emergency response immunity applies to claims both “based upon *or arising out of* an act or omission of a municipality in connection with an emergency response.” *Compare* Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(j) *with* (1)(k) (emphasis added). It was pursuant to a “broad[] interpretation of the phrase ‘arising out of’” that the Court held the negligent supervision claim in *Cubit* was precluded by the IMTCA. *See Cubit*, 677 N.W.2d at 783–85.

“[W]hen the legislature includes certain language in one section of a statute but omits it in another section of the same statute, [Courts] generally presume the omission is intentional.” *Chavez v. MS Tech. LLC*, 972 N.W.2d 662, 668 (Iowa 2022). This canon of construction applies to section 670.4 of the IMTCA, which variably immunizes “any claim,” “any claim based upon,” and “any claim based upon or arising out of” certain conduct. *Compare* Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(f) *with* (1)(j) *and* (1)(k).

“Arising out of” relates to the impetus of an action, meaning “to begin to occur or to exist : to come into being or to attention.” *Arise*, MERRIAM-WEBSTER.COM DICTIONARY, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/arise> (last visited Dec. 1, 2023). The “foundation or basis for” an action is what is it “based upon.” *Base*, MERRIAM-WEBSTER.COM DICTIONARY, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/base#h2> (last visited Dec. 1, 2023) (“usually used with on or upon”).

Though Aidan’s claim may have come into being or arose out of Gough’s negligent inspection and the plaintiff’s subsequent fall, the lawsuit is based upon the foundation that Gough should never have been hired as a Housing Inspector in the first place, because of his insufficient qualifications. *See* Third-Party Pet. The legislature’s omission of “arising out of” from subsection (1)(j) suggests this immunity has less broad of a sweep than the emergency response immunity. The broader language of the exception which applied in *Cubit* is not found in subsection (1)(j), thus the analysis in *Cubit* is not controlling here. *Compare* Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(j) with (1)(k); *see also* *Cubit*, 677 N.W.2d at 785 (“the negligent supervision claim is one ‘arising out of an act or omission in connection with an emergency response’”).

If the Court determines that *Cubit* is persuasive, it—and other cases finding negligent employment claims failed when the underlying claim against the employee

also failed—are distinct from the facts at issue here. *See e.g., McCoy v. Thomas L. Cardella & Assocs.*, 992 N.W.2d 223, 228–32 (Iowa 2023); *Cubit*, 677 N.W.2d at 783–85; *Schoff*, 604 N.W.2d at 53. In those cases, either the plaintiff had no tort claim against the employee or the employer itself enjoyed immunity for acts related to the hiring, retention, or supervision of the employee at issue. *See id.* Where only the conduct of the employee is immune, *Cubit* indicates that a municipal employer remains directly liable for negligently supervising the employee, unless immunity under the IMTCA applies to the allegedly negligent acts or omissions related to supervising the employee. *See Cubit*, 677 N.W.2d at 785 n.3.

In *Schoff*, the plaintiff’s negligent supervision claim against the defendant failed because its employee was not in the business of supplying information and therefore could not be liable for negligent misrepresentation. *Schoff*, 604 N.W.2d at 53. In *McCoy*, the employer itself enjoyed immunity under the Iowa Workers Compensation Act (“IWCA”), precluding the former-employee plaintiff’s common law negligent hiring, retention, or supervision claim. *McCoy*, 992 N.W.2d at 232. The exclusivity provisions of the IWCA also applied to any vicarious liability the employer had to its former employee for the tortious conduct of her supervisor. *See id.* at 229.

Cubit, like *McCoy*, is an example where statutory immunity applied both to the underlying actions of the employees *and* the supervisory acts of the employer.

Compare id. at 228–232 with *Cubit*, 677 N.W.2d at 784–85. The plaintiff, a trooper for the Iowa State Patrol, was injured when a fleeing driver intentionally crashed into his patrol car. *Id.* at 779–80. The plaintiff sued the county, alleging that: (i) a trainee dispatcher was negligent for failing to relay information that the suspect intended to crash his vehicle into law enforcement officers; and (ii) the county was negligent in its supervision of the trainee dispatcher. *Id.* at 780.

The Court found that the actions of the trainee dispatcher undisputedly occurred during an emergency response, triggering the emergency response exemption for purposes of a vicarious liability claim against the county for her conduct. *Id.* at 785. Even after making this determination, the Court went on to specifically analyze the applicability of the emergency response exemption to the claim that the county negligently supervised the dispatcher:

[T]here is no dispute that the dispatchers’ allegedly negligent actions occurred during an emergency response. *The issue is whether the negligent supervision claim also arose out of these acts taken “in connection with an emergency response” so as to fall within the statutory immunity.*

...

If this decision was not made during an emergency, there would have been no “act or omission in connection with an emergency response” that could trigger the immunity.

Cubit, 677 N.W.2d at 785 n.3 (emphasis added) (citing *Keystone Electrical Manufacturing, Co. v. City of Des Moines*, 586 N.W.2d 340, 350 (Iowa 1998)).

Neither *Cubit*—nor any other case cited by the City or in the Amicus Brief—have addressed a public or private employer’s liability in situations where the employer itself is not immune from liability for negligently employing an individual, but the employee’s tortious conduct which underlies the negligent employment claim is subject to immunity. Compare *id.* and *McCoy*, 992 N.W.2d at 228 (quoting *Schoff*, 604 N.W.2d at 53) with App. 81–82. To the contrary, *Cubit* states that unless immunity applies to the decision related to hiring, retention, or supervision, a municipality may still be liable for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision, even if “there is no dispute that the [employees’] allegedly negligent actions” are immune. *Id.*

The district court properly recognized this distinction between the City’s direct liability for employing Gough and any vicarious liability based upon his acts or omissions, noting:

[T]he problem with the City’s argument is that it focuses on whether a Plaintiff could ultimately recover for a negligence claim rather than on the pertinent point, which is whether a tortious or wrongful act was committed by the employee. In other words, to accept the City’s argument would be to find that if a Defendant is immune from liability for a tortious act, then no tortious or wrongful act occurred at all.

App. 81; see also *id.* (“a necessary element of a claim for negligent hiring, supervision, or retention is an underlying tort or wrongful act committed by the employee”) (citing *Schoff*, 604 N.W.2d at 53). The district court’s conclusion that it

could find no authority supporting “the proposition that immunity for a predicate tortious act by an employee forecloses an action for negligent hiring, retention, or supervision” was the correct one. App. 82.

This is not a case where the City’s acts or omissions related to hiring, retaining, or supervising Gough themselves were based upon conduct for which an immunity applies. *Compare* App. 81–82 with *Cubit*, 677 N.W.2d at 785 n.3. The decision to hire Gough was not “based upon an . . . inspection” nor otherwise immunized by subsection (1)(j). *See* Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(j). No other immunity in section 670.4 applies to negligent hiring, retention, or supervision claims. *See* Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(c); *A. Doe*, 652 N.W.2d at 447. The district court properly denied the City’s pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss because whatever underlying liability Gough enjoys does not preclude Aidan’s claim against the City.

D. The immunity under section 670.4(1)(f) does not apply to Aidan’s claim.

Assuming *arguendo* Aidan must show it could recover on an underlying tort claim against Gough to succeed on its claim against the City, the City has failed to demonstrate that there are no conceivable facts under which Aidan is entitled to relief. *See White v. Harkrider*, 990 N.W.2d 647, 657 (Iowa 2023). Two exemptions under the IMTCA relate to inspections and immunize municipalities from:

- f. Any claim for damages caused by a municipality's failure to discover a latent defect in the course of an inspection.

j. Any claim based upon an act or omission of an officer or employee of the municipality, whether by issuance of permit, inspection, investigation, or otherwise, and whether the statute, ordinance, or regulation is valid, if the damage was caused by a third party, event, or property not under the supervision or control of the municipality, unless the act or omission of the officer or employee constitutes actual malice or a criminal offense.

Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(f), (j).

Subsection (1)(f) precludes claims arising out of a failure to discover a latent defect. Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(f). For purposes of Iowa law, a “latent defect” is one which is “hidden or concealed.” *Est. of Vazquez v. Hepner*, 564 N.W.2d 426, 430 (Iowa 1997). A defect is hidden or concealed if it cannot be discovered by reasonable and customary observation or inspection or is otherwise not apparent on its face. *Roher v. Veterans Mem’l Hosp.*, 2000 WL 145045, at *5 (Iowa Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Vazquez*, 564 N.W.2d at 430). Where the allegedly defective condition could have been discovered by reasonable observation or inspection, it is not a “latent defect” and the immunity in subsection (1)(f) does not apply. *Id.*

It is undisputed here that the allegedly defective condition of the stairs was not “latent,” such that it could not have been discovered by reasonable observation or inspection. Plaintiffs claim to have discovered this condition after Lori’s trip and fall and before filing suit. *See App. 1*. The non-latent nature of the alleged defect

results in any underlying claim against Gough not being subject to the immunity provided by subsection (1)(f). *See* Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(f).

E. The City’s interpretation of the immunity under section 670.4(1)(j) is too broad and would read section 670.4(1)(f) out of the statute.

The City and Plaintiffs will no doubt argue that, even if the immunity under subsection (1)(f) is inapplicable, the immunity provided under subsection (1)(j) nevertheless precludes Aidan’s claim. *See* Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(j). If interpreted as the City suggests, the immunity for “any claim based upon an . . . inspection” would provide municipalities and their employees immunity for damages caused by failure to discover *any defect* in the course of an inspection. *See id.* This result is inconsistent with and would render a nullity the prior exemption in section 670.4 for “a municipality’s failure to discover *a latent defect* in the course of an inspection.” *See* Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(f) (emphasis added). The City’s proposed interpretation, contraindicated by the canons of statutory interpretation, should be rejected.

“In enacting a statute, it is presumed that . . . [t]he entire statute is intended to be effective.” Iowa Code § 4.4(2). Accordingly, courts will avoid reading a statute in a way that would make any portion of it redundant or irrelevant. *Petition of Chapman*, 890 N.W.2d 853, 857 (Iowa 2017). Rather, whenever possible, the various statutes and subsections within a statutory scheme will be interpreted in a way that the provisions do not conflict, no language is rendered mere surplusage,

and effect is given to all provisions. *Rojas v. Pine Ridge Farms, L.L.C.*, 779 N.W.2d 223, 231–32 (Iowa 2010).

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